THE MIDDLE BYZANTINE SANCTUARY BARRIER:
TEMPLON OR ICONOSTASIS?

By A.W.EpstTEIN

AT THE PRESENT TIME the interior of the Orthodox church is dominated by the richly
painted iconostasis which separates visually as well as physically the layman in the nave
from the priest in the sanctuary. But the opaque barrier was not always part of the
liturgical furnishings of East Christian churches. Indeed, the evolution of the wooden
iconostasis from the open marble screen of low parapet slabs with, on occasion,
colonnettes supporting an architrave or epistyle typical of the Early Christian period has
recently received considerable attention.' The period at which the marble screen, often
referred to as a templon in the sources, began to assume a more opaque character through
the addition of permanently attached panel paintings remains open to debate.’ Such
scholars as Chatzidakis and Weitzmann propose a tenth- or eleventh-century date for the
development.’ Others, including Ouspensky, L.azarev and Walter, conclude that itis a
late Byzantine or even post-Byzantine phenomenon.'

As the open form of sanctuary barrier has been convincingly demonstrated for the early
churches of Constantinople until the age of Justinian, in my opinion, the critical phase for
the understanding of the barrier is the period from the end of the ninth century until the
re-establishment of Orthodoxy in Constantinople in the aftermath of the Latin occupation
(1204-61).* Within this chronological framework, it is important to look first at the
evidence for the form of the sanctuary barrier remaining in the capital of the Byzantine
Empire, Constantinople. Since during the Middle Byzantine period the capital was
culturally dominant, providing the main source of artistic innovation in the Empire, it is

! Most recently: M. Chatzidakis, ‘L’évolution de l'icone aux tie-13e sitcles ct la transformation du templon’, XVe
Congrés Intemational d'études l?(arm:m; 11, Art et Archéologie (Athens 1976), 157-92; idem, ‘lkonostas’, Reaflexiken zur
byzantinischen Kunst, eds K. Wessel and M. Restle (Stuttgart 1973), cols 326—54; G. Babi¢, 'La décoration en fresques des
clotures de choeur', Zbomik za Likorne Umetnosti, x1 (1975), 3-49; C. Walter, 'The Origin of the Iconostasis’, Eastern Churches
Review, m (1971), 251-67; idem, ‘Bulletin on the Deesis and the Paraclesis,’ Revue des études Byzantines, xxxvm (1980},
261-g. Among the most valuable of the older works on the subject are: E. Golubinskij, /storija ruskoj cerkvi, 2nd edn (Moscow
1904) 1, pt 2, 195=216 (1 want to thank Mr M. Puskin of the Department of Russian of the University of Birmingham for his
translation of this fundamental secondary source); T. Ouspensky, “The Problem of the lconostasis’, translated from
Russian by A. E. Moorhouse, St Viadimir’s Seminar Quarterly, v, pt 4 (1964), 186—-218; V. Lazarev, "Trois fragments
d'épistyles peintes et le templon byzantin®, Deltion tés christianikes archatelogikés Hetairias (dedicated to Timitikos G. Sotierios),
w Egﬁﬁ]. 117-43; A, Grabar, ‘Deux notes sur I'histoire de I'iconostase d'apres des monuments de Yougoslavie', Zbarnik
Radeva Vizantoloks Institut, vt (1961), 13-22.

? The medicval use of the terms ‘templon’ and ‘iconostasis’ have been dealt with repeatedly in scholarly literature, See
for instance, Walter, *Origin of the lconostasis’, 251 sqq., or Chatzidakis, ‘Tkonostas’, cols 326 sqq.

 Chatzidakis, 'L'évolution de icone’, thg; K. Weitemann, The Monastery of St Katherine at Mount Sinar. The leons. Vol [
(Princeton 1970), 102.

* Quspensky, ‘Problem of the Iconostasis', 186 sqq.; Lazarev, ‘“Trois fragments’, 117 sqq.; Walter, *Origin of the
Iconostasis’, 266 sqq.

* From his examination of Early Byzanune Constantinopolitan screens, T. Mathews concludes that although screens
with colonnettes supporting epistyles were the most popuiar form ol apse closure, there is no indication that these screens
were cver fitted with curtains }or the isolation of the sanctuary as has been previously thought, Early Churches, 162 sqq. The
implications of the association of images with the sanctuary barricr in tﬁc pre-lconoclastic penod are discussed by E,
Kitzinger, ‘Byzantine Art in the Period between Justinian and Iconoclasm’, Berichte zum X1. international Byzantinisten-
Kongress, Munick, 1958, 1v, pt 1, 1=50, esp. 41 5qq. The evidence for the carly use of figurally decorated curtains in the
templon has recently beea added to by C. Mango, ‘Liturgy and the People’ (unpublished lecture, Dumbarton Qaks
Symposium, May 1979): idem, *The History of the Templon and the Martyrium of St Arternios’, Zograf, x (1979), 40-8 did
not come to my attention until after this article went to press.
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particularly important to establish as far as possible the liturgical arrangements current in
the metropolis before treating the provincial material. Because of the incomplete state of
research on the churches of Constantinople, this has not yet been attempted. For the same
reason, the conclusions of this study must remain tentative. Nevertheless, a review of the
archaeological and literary evidence for Constantinople does allow a viable reconstruc-
tion of the form and decoration of the templon screen at least until the twelfth century.

TemproN EVIDENGE FROM CONSTANTINOPLE

The churches of Constantinople have been denuded of their liturgical furnishings. All
evidence of the sanctuary fittings has disappeared from most medieval foundations.®
However, screen fragments incorporated into later decoration or uncovered during
church restoration provide some documentation concerning the Constantinopolitan
screen of the ninth until the twelfth century. The barrier that can best be understood, if not
fully reconstructed, is that of the Pantocrator Monastery. Because this screen is attested to
by literary as well as artistic and archaeological remains, it is possible to formulate some
idea of its original structure, decorative programme and function.

The Pantocrator Monastery (Zeyrek Camii), was founded by the Empress Irene
(1118-24) and completed by her husband, John II, after her death.” The complex, which
consisted of the three extant churches and a number of subsidiary structures, was the
largest Byzantine monastic foundation of the twelfth century. The first and largest church
on the site was that of the Pantocrator, to the south. In 1136, the Emperor John [I
provided a typikon for the monastery, outlining the liturgical, social and economic
organisation of the institution.® The sections of the typikon, or foundation charter,
concerning the censing and lighting of the south church of the complex are relevant to the
reconstruction of the chancel barrier:

(lines 71 sqq.). .. after having censed in the form of a cross before the railing, he [the priest] then
will withdraw into the sanctuaries . ..

® A review of such monuments as Atik Mustala Paga Camii, Eski Imaret Camii, Gal Camii, Ahmet Paga Camii, Bodrum
Camii, Theotokos Panagia Mougliotissa, and Vefa Kilise Camii, show net only that medicval closures have been destroyed,
but also that emplacement marks have been obscured in remodelling or even in restoration.

? Janin, Eglises, 529 sqq.; van Millingen, Churches, 225 sqq.

* P. Gautier, ‘Le typikon du Christ Sauveur Pantocrator’, Revue des études Byzontines, xxxu (1974), 1-145. The excerpis
translated in the text are found on pages 33, 35, 37 and 39. The Greck text reads:
lines 71 sqq.: ®ai oltw otavEoelddg Oupdoas Euneooley tav nuyxkhidwy tpekic év toig @dUTog ywpnoe
lines 123 sqq.: Zuvayopévoy 8t tv i) Exxdnaiq 1OV povaydv, oldeis Ex’ &delag EEeL nd T ToU Buaiaompiov
®ywhidwv v &v Etépw 10w mEooeyEaba
lines 148 5qq.: 'Ev 8t taig ovvaLeat 1ob dpBoov, Ths Aettoveylag xal 1ol éomeguvol antéabwoay v 20xhy TOV £0QoT
ol xpatnees anavies, EExaidexa 1OV dptBudv dvreg, kat al tou Téprhov xavdijha ndoat xai Thv TeavoRiwy xal
v recodewv Emboilwy téooapes, ToU vapbnxog Teels pETd TS YUXTEQLVIS ®ai Tol EEwvaonrog 0V0 petd The
vuxteQivijg Spoiwg.
lines 156 sqq.: Kava 8¢ vag ouvéatels Eotwoav antéueva iv 1o véprhe tola, £lg 10 uxodv téprhov Ev xal tapda 1@
Buowaomptw Eregov v, EG TOV l'lawoxgiﬁw@a £repa dvo, elg Tag Vo moooxuvioeag dva étepov £v. 'Ev &f taig
nugaxatg xati vovg Spbgoug xai €v taig lepovpyiarg, 1L 88 xal &v toiz bamepivoig 1av oafifarwv datécbuoay rati
0 tépndov 10 pécov xngla Extd rai elg 1o HeELOV vépunhov Tol puxeat Priparog xnpia toia’
lines 163 sqq.: Kota bt vég peilovag éog'tixg M puwrayia tol vaot ovtw yevioeral. 'Ev alt mpwtn Tt
Metapoqpuwott. . . ¥xnela 8t myyvicbwoay nept 1a répstha xal tig tpooxuvioels EEaolyya’
1 wish to thank Dr John Nesbitt for correcting my translations of these and other passages in the text of this paper.
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(lines 123 sqq.) Having brought the monks together in the church, no one at licence will be able to
pray in front of the railing and in another place . ..

(lines 148 sqq.) During the service of matins, the liturgy and vespers, let all the lamps be lit around
the choir, sixteen in number, all the candles of the templon and the candlelabra, and the four lamps
of the four principal arches [?]; in the narthex three (lamps), including the night lamp, and in the
exonarthex two (lamps) along with the night lamp . ..

{lines 156 sqq.) During the service, let (candles) be lit; three on the templon, one in the small
templon, one near the altar, two facing the Pantocrator, one facing cach of the two images of
proskynesis. And on Sundays during the orthros and at the liturgy, and also on the vespers of
Saturday, light seven candles all along the central templon and three candles facing the right hand
templon of the small bema . . .

(lines 163 sqq.) The lighting of the church during the Great Feasts will be thus: in the first place on
(the Feast of) the Transfiguration .. let six-ounce candles be set in place at the templon and the
proskynetaria.

These excerpts provide no clear description of the templon, as it is mentioned only
tangentially.” Nevertheless, lines 71 sqq. and 156 sqq. indicate that a side screen separated
the northern apse from the nave and that the larger, central sanctuary apse was closed by a
separate screen. Lines 123 sqq. imply that the space before the screen was particularly
attractive for individual prayer. The term ®uynhideg, railings, suggests a low, relatively
open screen. It has meant lattice work, grill, open fence, or balustrade from ancient to
modern times." TéumAov has a more specific meaning, as is evident from texts considered
below." It indicates that the low screen must have been elaborated with colonnettes
supporting an architrave or cpistyle. Presumably, the candles mentioned in lines 148sqq_.,
156 sqq., and 163 sqq., as well as sections in the typikon concerning similar arrangements
for the other two churches of the complex, suggest that in the vicinity of the templon were
images ol special veneration, proskynetaria. As portable icons are distinguished as such in
the text, it is most likely that these proskynetaria refer to monumental images decorating
the west face of the piers flanking the sanctuary."” Such images were, in any case,
commonplace in Middle Byzantine churches, as will be shown below.” The typikon thus
suggests that the Pantocrator screen was an open colonnade, with closure slabs within the
intercolumniations at the bottom and an epistyle beam at the top, set between bema piers
on which perhaps are represented images of proskynesis.

This vague literary picture of the chancel arrangements in the Pantocrator may be
substantiated by the finds from the restoration carried out by A. H. S. Megaw for the
Byzantine Institute in America in 1961—2." The Phrygian marble step at the entrance to

? Other passages relevant to the form of the templon screen are found in lines 728 sqq., 734 3qq., and 860 sqq.

® H. G. Liddell and R. Scott, A Greek-English Lexicon (Oxford 1968), 950; W. Crighton, Mega Elifno-Aggltkon Lexiken
{Athens 1960), Bo3.

1! See below, p. 6 sqq. and [0. 23.

" Gautier, ‘Typikon,’ 81 sqq., lines 883 sqq. Here the procession and positioning of the famous Theotokos Hodegetria
icon is vividly described.

" Sec below, p. 24. ) . .

“ A H.S. Megaw, ‘Notes on Recent Work of the Byzantine Institute in Istanbul', DOP, xvit (1963}, 335-62, esp. 344

Sqq
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the central apse retains the emplacement scars of uprights on either side of a narrow
central opening. The post-hole on the south was reworked at some time to hold a larger
piece. On the basis of these marks and fragments of parapet slabs found in the bema area
reused in the Turkish pavement, Megaw has reconstructed a templon screen of four
colonnettes supporting an epistyle and joined at their base by marble stabs (Fig. 1). He
suggests that it was part of the original furnishing of the twelfth-century foundation. More
recently, however, excavations undertaken at Saraghane in Istanbul show that the slabs of

F1c. 1. Istanbul, Pantocrator Monastery, rcconstruction of the templon screen
(screen drawn after A. H. S. Megaw, reconstruction of epistyle programme: Epstein)

the reconstructed Pantocrator screen were reused spolia from the early sixth-century
church of St Polyeuktos.” The reworking of the south emplacement suggests, though
certainly does not prove, that Megaw’s screen does not date from the twelfth century, but
rather from a later adaptation, most likely for the reconsecration of the church after the
Latin occupation.’® Even if the reconstructed screen of the Pantocrator dates from the

' R. M. Harrison and N. Firatli, ‘Excavations at Saraghanc in [stanbul: Fourth Preliminary Report’, DOP, xx1 {1g67),
276; R. M. Harrison, ‘A Constantinopolitan Capital in Barcclona’, DOP, xxvi1 {1973), 27-300, esp. 299.
'® Janin suggests that the complex was rebuilt for use as a monastery between 1261 and 1265, Eglises, 531.
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third quarter of the thirteenth century rather than the early twelfth century, it
nevertheless seems to imitate an earlier open barrier as described in the typikon.

The original marble [ramework of the Pantocrator templon evidently was adorned by a
series of images placed over its architrave. The programme of this figural decoration can
be reconstructed. In 1438, Joseph, Patriarch of Constantinople, reportedly recognised
parts of the Pantocrator’s templon decoration in the Pala d’Oro, the sumptuous altarpiece
of San Marco in Venice.”” Though the credibility of the Patriarch’s comment has been
questioned, there are good reasons to believe that the seven uppermost enamel plaques of
the Pala d’Oro, representing the Archangel Michael, Christ’s Entry into Jerusalem, the
Crucifixion, the Anastasis, the Ascension, the Pentecost and the Koimesis of the Virgin
did come from the Pantocrator’s screen.” After the Latin occupation of Constantinople,
the Pantocrator Monastery became the site of the Venetian Podesta, allowing the
Venetians every opportunity to despoil the monument before their eviction in 1261."”" On
stylistic grounds, the enamels have been ascribed independently to an early twelfth-
century, Constantinopolitan workshop.” The subject matter of the panels suggests that
they were part of the dodekaortion, images of the Twelve I'easts of the Orthodox liturgical
year. The Archangel Michacl, inclining as he does to the right, seems to indicate that he
was originally part of a Deesis, that is, Christ flanked by the Virgin, John the Baptist, and
the Archangels, Michael and Gabriel.¥ The most important argument in favour of the
Pantocrator provenance is that the enamel plaques now incorporated into the Pala d’Oro
when augmented by six further Feast images and four more Deesis panels constitute an
ensemble equivalent in length to the epistyle of the Pantocrator screen (Fig. 1)

The Pantocrator screen, on the basis of literary, archaeological and artistic evidence,
can be reasonably reconstructed as a marble templon supporting a sumptuous
programme of images perhaps flanked by proskynetaria. Though the bema was restricted
to the area behind the triumphal arch, there is no indication that it was separated visually
from the nave. Indeed, the figural decoration of the templon is elevated above the
intercolumniations of the screen or set to the side, in order to complement rather than
obscure the pricstly rites being carried out behind it. This screen of a major metropolitan
monastic foundation provides a pattern upon which fragments, both literary and
archaeological, of other barriers in Constantinople might be cautiously reassembled.

" Sylvestre Syropoulos, Les Mémoires du grand ecclésiargue de 'Eglise de Constantinople. Sylvestre Syropoulos sur le Concile de
Florence (1438-9), ed. V. Laurent (Rome 1971}, 222 sqq., lines 11 sqq. {Concilium Fiorentinum: documenta et scriptores,
ser. B, vol. 1x).

5 A catalo} ue of the enamels of the Pala d'Oro provides a description and measurements for each of the pancls, La Pala
4'0ro, ed. H. Hahnloser { Florence 1965), 39 sqq. ({{ Tesero di San Mareo, tesii di W.F. Volbach, A. Pertusi, B. Bischoff, H. R.
Hahnloser, and G. Fiocco, 13. Hahnloscer discusses the evidence for associating the plaques with the Pantocrator in his essay,
‘La decorazione della parte superiore, l'opera del Bonesegna, 13435, € I'iconostasi del secolo XI1', 94 sqq. For review of
the argument, and for bibliography: J. Detr, ‘Die Pala d'Oro in never Sicht’, Byzantinische Zeitschrift, 1xn (1969), 508-44.

" Janin, Eglises, 531, )

© For instance, J. Beckwith, Byzantine Art and Architecture (Baltimore 1970}, 1185qq.

[ a Pala d’Oro, ¢d. Hahnloser, 64 5qq. For a consideration of the Deesis, sec below, p. 23 5qq., [n. 8g.

 The slight differences in sizes among the Pala d’Oro enamels need not be explained by differences in provenance, as
Hahnloser suggests, Pala d’Ore, 94 sqq. The central opening of the Pantocrator sereen is ofi-centre in order to be on axis with
the entry into the church. Megaw, ‘Notcs on Recent Work’, 344 5qq. This would necessitate same adjustment in the size of
the individual feast scenes. The plaques with the central Deesis might well be larger because of their greater significance. A,
Grabar, on the basis of his calculation of the length of the reconstructed cpistyle, dismisses the possibility that the Pala
d'Oro pancls came from the Pantocrator, ‘Etudes critiques’, CA, xvi (1966}, 238.



6 MIDDLE BYZANTINE SANCTUARY BARRIER

The closest literary approximation to the Pantocrator screen is the templon in the
palace church of Christ the Saviour described in the Vita Basilii:”

Close to the above churches is the house of prayer he [Emperor Basil [ (867-86)) constructed in
honour of our God, the Saviour, and those who have not seen it will find its costly magnificence
altogether incredible; so great a mass of silver and gold, of precious stones and pearls has been
expended for its adornment. Indeed, the entire pavement is made of solid beaten silver with niello
exhibiting the perfection of the jeweller’s art; the walls on the right and left arc also covered with an
abundance of silver, picked out with gold and studded with precious stones and gleaming pearls.
As for the closure that separates the choir from the nave, by Hercules, what riches are contained in
it! [ts columns and lower part are made entirely of silver, while the beam that is laid on top of the
capitals is of pure gold, and all the wealth of India has been poured upon it. The image of our Lord,
the God-man, is represented several times in enamel upon this beam.

The ‘lower part’ must refer to the waist-high parapet; the ‘beam’ is the epistyle. It is
decorated, like the architrave of the Pantocrator screen, with enamel images. The fact that
Christ is represented ‘several times’ on it suggests that there were plaques representing
the principal events of His life, i.e. the Festival cycle.” A description of a templon in an
account of the sacred objects in Diataxis of the Michael Attaliates” monastery of Christ toa
Panoiktirmonos from 1078 indicates that while a figural sequence on a templon might be
commonplace, it did not always represent scenes from the life of Christ. ‘The templon has
in the middle the Deesis and [on either side?] the narrative of the holy Precursor [John the

L ]

Baptist]’.

» Theophanes continuatus, Fita Basilii, 330, lines 8 sqq. (Corpus Scriptorum Historiac Byzanunae, xtvin, Bonn 1838),
The transiation is from Mango, Sources and Documents, 196. The Greek text reads:
veLtovel 62 1otToLe val O &1 dvopaT Tov 0wtHEos Nudv xal Yol xataoxevaciels D’ avtol evxioLog olxog, ol 10
nohvtehic xal UrépTLHOY TOlg 0 [doboLY Gmiarog vopothioetal’ TogoUtog agyvpog xai yuodg xal tiuiny Aidwy xai
pagyaomy aiiidog &v i) 10Utov mepBolrn xataPéfinrar. 1o pév yae Edagog dnav EE deyvoov opugnidtou xoi
0T Bapol uet’ Eyxavoeng, 1O @Y yovooydav dxoBEs 1 Téy e EmdEviuevog, nateoxebagrar, ol 2 €€ OeSLav xal
¢E edwvipmy ToloL eyveov aplovov xai adtol mxeinevov £xovat, Sunviopivoy 3 Evom xal Tpiows nenorLhpévoy
ABoig »al pagyapwy hapnpdmary. I‘Qt‘; delgyovoa ti iduta Tol Betol oixov 1oUTOY RUYHALS, ‘Hpdxherg, 6aov difov
&v tauty) tepielingev! i ol atUAoL uev xal 1 xdrwdey £E doyioov Sidhou thy avgraawy Exovdiy, 1) & Tais xegahiot
Toutey fruxelpévn dondg & vadagol ypuoiov tdoa ouveésTre, TOV TAOUTOY avia tov €5 'Ivddv mepuxey upévov
wéviovdey fxovon & f) xatd nokkd péon rat ) fsavpun 100 xuplov popg petd yupedorwg ExtETinwtal.

* Two other passages allude to open, magnificently decorated sanctuary closures. In the same Vita Basilii, the following
is part of the description of the Nea Ecclesia:
The barrier that separates the sanctuary from the nave, including the columns that pertain to it and the lintel that is above
them, the seats thatare within [the sanctuary] and the steps that are in front of them, and the holy tables themselves—all of
these are compacted of silver sulfused with gold, of precious stones and costly pearls . ..
wai ai Ty ExTOg diglpyovoa Tl Yuoraomowe xiyxhides wai Tt &v abrals negiotuda xay T avwidev olov Unépdupa
yonuatifovra ol te évidg Baxor nai at :'(36 ity Baduides xal avtai al iepat tpanelal, & doyvpov navia
reQUiERUpEVOY EXOVTOG TOV XQUOoV ®al hittorg Tipiolg €x pagyaplt@y NugLeopivolg okutedmy iy cowmEwv xal
ovgradiy EXovoLv.
Theophanes continuatus, Vita Basilii, 226, lines 8 sqq.; Mango, Sources and Documents, 194. The other description is found in
Photius’s Homily X, concerning the church of the Virgin of the Pharos. Peristyle here describes the templon, implying an
open colonnade:
Elsewhere gold is twined into chains, but more wonderful than gold is the compositon of the haly table. The litdle doors and
columns of the sanctuary together with the peristyle are covered with silver ...
B. Laourdas, Photicx Homiliai, supplement 12 to Hellenika (Thessalonike 1959), 100 sqq.; Mango, Sources and Documents, 185
sqq. Also sec R. J. H. Jenkins and C. Mango, “The Date and Significance of the Tenth Homily of Photius', DOP, 1x-x
{lgés—ﬁ), 123-40, €sp. 1235qQ. :

Z'K. N. Sathas, Mesaioniké Bibliothékeé, vol. A (Venice 1872), 7. The Greek text reads: TO téuthov Exov xai avtd péoov
v Aé[nowv] xal o0 tpiov xai dyiov INeodedpou Ty guu'pmow. Sathas rcad Aé{omowav] instead of Aé[nawv].
Charzidakis has corrected this interpretation, ‘[konostas’, col. 338,



MIDDLE BYZANTINE SANCTUARY BARRIER 7

A less luxurious screen, but one of the same basic form as those of the churches of the
Pantocrator and the Saviour, is described in a deed granting the Genoese the palace of
Botaniates which included a chapel. The deed dates from 1202, but the building probably
was constructed in the tenth or eleventh century.®

The partition of the bema consists of four posts of green [marble] with bronze collars, two
perforated closure slabs, a marble entablaturce and a gilded wooden templon.

Here the decoration above the epistyle is realised in wood rather than in enamel, as in the
Pantocrator and Saviour. Perhaps through analogy with the gilded woaden beams of St
Katherines on Sinai, the panels at St John Lampidistas on Cyprus or the fragment in
Leningrad which are discussed below, it is possible to suggest that this ‘gilded wooden
templon’ was adorned with figural images.”

In addition to these few literary references, there is further archaeological and art
historical evidence for the form and decoration of the Constantinopolitan templon. Open
marble screens can, for instance, be hypothesised on the basis of marble fragments for
three further churches: the monastery of Constantine Lips, Kalenderhane Camii and the
church of the Theotokos tés Pammakaristou.

The church of the Theotokos, Katholikon of the monastery founded by Constantine
Lips in go7, retains much of its high quality architectural sculpture. Other fragments,
excavated by Macridy in 1929, are now in the Istanbul Archaeological Museum.™ Among
these fragments are pieces forming part of a marble slab ornamented with a peacock sct
frontally. Fragments of a matching slab have been found more recently in the church.”
Originally these slabs would have measured approximately one metre in length, an
appropriate size for a closure consisting of an opening flanked by colonnettes bearing an
epistyle, and paired marble parapets. As the opening to the sanctuary of the church is only
3.63 metres wide, no further uprights or intercolumnar closures would be necessary. Such
a solution was first suggested by Grabar and later accepted by Mango and Hawkins.

More ambiguous is the evidence for a marble chancel barrier in the twelfth-century
church now known only by its Turkish name, Kalenderhane Camii. On the eastern piers
of the building are sculptural fragments in the form of a pair of marble frames (Pls T and
V1a).” These frames consist of two registers, the lower one made up of short colonnettes
with crudely carved cushion capitals supporting impost blocks and a narrow cornice
carved in low relief with an acanthus leaf motif. Above are two slender verde antique
uprights of rectangular section. The capitals of these elegant piers were disfigured and

* Acta et diplomata gracca medii aevi, m, eds F. Miklosich and J. Mﬁu:cr (Vicnn{l 1865), 55; translation from Mango, Sanmr.:
and Documents, 239 sqq. The Greek text reads: 1) REQUPQaYT TOU frinarog dudx ounpovioowy TEOTAQWY TEAROIVILY PETR
OTEQavaY yalxov, o fov tpurTdv 800, XoopPHTOV pagpaeivoy xai o Eukivor RexQuonpivouy.

7 See below, p. 15 sqq and fn. 67. )

A The accession numbers arc: 430967, 4369-71, 4380, 4569 and 4570. For discussions of the church and its scuipture:
Grabar, Sculptures, 1, 100 sqq.; T. Macridy, “The Monastery of Lips and the Burials of the Palaeologi’, DOP, xvin (1964},
253-78, A. H. 5. Megaw, fﬁ’lc Original Form of the Theatokos Chureh of Constantine Lips’, ibid., 279-99, and C. Mango
and E. J. W. Hawkins, 'Additional Notes on the Monastery of Lips', ibid., 299-415.

® . Mango and E. J. W, Hawkins, ‘Additional Finds at Fenari Isa Cami’, DOP, xxu (1968), 179.

¥ Grabar, Sculptures, 1, 106 sqq.; Mango and Hawkins, ‘Additional Notes on the Monastery of Lips’, 305,

" E. Freshficld, ‘Notes on the Church of the Kalenders in Constantinople’, Archacology, 2nd ser., v (1897), 431-8, esp.
435 5qq-; van Millingen, Churches, 186. The best Eholograp_hs_puhiishcd since the restoration of the church are found in T.
Mathews, Byzantine Churches of Constantinople: A Pholographic Survey (Pennsylvania State University Press, University Park
and London 1976), 184 sqq.
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adorned with a simplified acanthus-derived ornament in the Turkish period. The upper
cornices are the most beautifully carved pieces in the mélange. The one on the north is
adorned with a central, plastically modelled bust of Christ, arched acanthus leaves and, at
the ends, the Virgin and John the Baptist. The one on the south has a central hetoimasia,
or empty throne representing the presence of Christ, acanthus and probably angels. Both
these programmes are set above a register of low relief leaf patterns bordered by the bead
and reel. Van Millingen suggested that they framed images of proskynesis of the type
suggested by the Pantocrator typikon.” However, frames of this type remaining both in
Constantinople and in the provinces are convincing sculptural entities, almost universally
formed of an claborately carved arch supported on colonnettes, like that in the Kariye
Camii (Pl. IIa).” The heterogeneity of the Kalenderhane Camii ‘frames’ would be
unworthy of the capital. It is equally unlikely that the fragments, as they stand, represent
the remains of a templon screen, as Freshfield proposed.” Had the upper cornices
projected across the apse opening to form the epistyle of a sanctuary closure as he
hypothesised, the screen would have been perilously high and without parallel. Also, the
Deesis is normally the central theme of the epistyle programme, not a secondary subject
relegated to the side of the beam.”

Because of the difficulties in the alternatives so far put forward, further speculation
seems in order.” The finely carved upper cornices of the Kalenderhane Camii ‘frames’ are
fragments. As evidenced by the unfinished nature of their terminations, both pieces have
been cut down to fit their present location. This, in addition to the inorganic relation of the
various parts of the Kalenderhane Camii ‘frames’, suggests that the present arrangement
is a late construction of reused pieces of marble. The character of the stiff, arching
acanthus and its combination with more abstract, low relief vegetal ornament and the
bead and reel motif, associates the upper cornices with the carving of the sepulchral
monument on the north wall of the parecclesion of the Kariye Camii and the
proskynetaria frame in the naos of the same Palaeologan foundation (Pl 11a).*" Tt is
possible, then, that the upper cornices of the Kalenderhane Camii ‘frames’ are late
thirteenth- or early fourteenth-century in date, stemming from the restoration of the
church to the Orthodox rite after the re-establishment of Byzantine control of
Constantinople. They may, in fact, be fragments of the epistyle of a Palacologan templon,
incorporated into the decoration of the eastern piers only when the church was turned into
a mosque. The revetment of this area was certainly altered at that time. The Palaeologan
screen would have consisted of four verde antique uprights supporting an epistyle with a

3 Van Millingen, Churches, 186.

B @. Hjort, ‘The Sculpture of the Kariye Camii’, DOP, xxxm {1979), 199-289, esp. 232 5qq. Also sce, D. Oates, ‘A
Summary Reporton the Excavations of the Byzantine Institute in the Kariye Camii, 1957-8, D% , Xty (1960}, 225-131; H.
Belting, ‘Zur Skulptur aus der Zeit um 1300 in Konstantinopel', Minchner Jahréuch der bitdenden Kunst, dritte folge, xxm
(1972), 63—111, esp. 75 5qq.; and Grabar, Sculptures, u, 132. For a contrary point of view, H. Buchwald, ‘The Carved Stone
Ornament of the High Miﬂd e Ages in San Marco, Venice', fahrbuch der asterreichischen byzantinischen Gesellschaft, xu (1964),
137-70, ¢sp. 150 5qq.

* Freshfield, ‘Nqotcs on the Church of the Kalenders’, 435 sqq.

¥ See below, p. 23 5qq.

* The original use and reuse of these impressive marble fragments will no doubt be fully clarified with the final
publication of the excavations and restoration of the Kalenderhane Camii carried out under the direction of C. L. Striker
and K. D. Kuban. The sculpture is being published by U. Peschlow.

3" See above, . 33.
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central Deesis with subsidiary flanking themes, one of which was the hetoimasja.®
Unfortunately, no evidences of the screen’s emplacement were found in the walls or floor
of the sanctuary in the course of the restoration of the building carried out under the
direction of C. L. Striker and K. D. Kuban.” Consequently, the reconstruction of a
templon for the Kalenderhane Camii must remain hypothetical.

Fragments of a templon have also been found in the main eleventh- or twelfth-century
church of the Theotokos Pammakaristos (the Fetiye Camii).* Among the fragments
associated with the screen are a section of epistyle, 78cm. in length, with the bust of an
Apostle carved in high relief, a portion of an ornamentally carved parapet slab, and a
capital, adorned on three sides with busts identified as Peter between John the Evangelist
and Matthew (PL. TIg).*" Ifall these pieces did belong to the Fetiye Camii screen, it would
have had a form similar to that of the Fenari Isa Camii, being made up of two colonnettes
with capitals decorated with the Princes of the Apostles and the four Evangelists
supporting an architrave ornamented with the Apostolic college. Whether or not there
was a central Deesis on the original screen is impossible to say. This reconstructed screen
would not, however, stem from the Middle Byzantine period. Belting has included the
epistyle fragment and capital in a series of sculptures dating from around 1300.% Like the
pieces in the Kalenderhane Camii, the fragments found in the Fetiye Camii are the
remains not of the original liturgical fittings of the Middle Byzantine foundation, but of
the Orthodox restoration of the monastery after the Latin occupation.

The original templa of these Constantinopolitan churches may well have been included
in the booty appropriated by the Crusaders after Constantinople fell to them in 1204.
Indeed, evidence for the programme of the Middle Byzantine epistyle is still found in the
West. As has already been mentioned, the figural decoration of the Pantocrator screen
may be reconstructed on the basis of the enamel plaques presently incorporated in the
Pala d’Oro in San Marco in Venice.* An even more elaborate epistyle programme has
been proposed by Weitzmann for an unidentified tenth-century church in Constantinople
on the basis of'a series of ivory carvings now scattered in western collections.* On the basis
of virtually identical size, shape, style and workmanship, Weitzmann associates the ivory
plaques of Christ, the Virgin and Saints Peter and Paul in Bamberg, the pair of ivories
representing the Presentation of Christ in the Temple in Leningrad and a fragment of the
Archangel Gabriel in Dumbarton Oaks with a Constantinopolitan templon screen.

% The verde antique uprights are reminiscent of those mentioned in the description of the church in the Palace of
Botaniates. See above, IE 7. ) )

¥ Dr Judith Herrin kindly provided me with this information. .

» C. Mangoand E. | W. Hawkins, ‘Repart on Ficld Work in [stanbul and Cyprus’, DOP, xviu {1664}, 319-40, esp. 331
sqq.; H. Belung, ‘Zur Skulptur aus der cit um 1300, 70 5qq.; Grabar, Sculptures, 1t, nos 130-1. Compare l'! Belting,
‘&onstaminupol‘skaja kapitel' v Leningrade. Rel'cinaja plastika pazdr_lcw_za!nuskogol perioda v Kahne Dzam?’, Vizantija
Juinye slavjane { drevnjaja Rus’ zapadnaja Europa. Iskusitvot kul'tura (Festschrift V. N. Lazarev), ed. V. N. Grashchenkov (Moscow
1973}, 136-55.

. )Clirabar, Seulptures, ui, 131. Mango and Hawkins identify the figures as John (?), Peter and Matthew {?}, ‘Report on
Field Work in Istanbul’, 331.

 Belting, ‘Zur Skulptur aus der Zeit um 1300°, 70 5qq.

9 See above, p. 53599. 3 o : .

% K. Weitzmann, ‘lgie byzantinischen Elfenbeine cines Bamberger Graduale und ihre urspringliches Verwendung’,
Festschrift fir K. H. Usener (Marburg 1967), 11-20; idem, ‘Diptix slonovoj kosti iz Ermitaza, otnosjascijsjs k krugu
imperatora Romana’, Vizantijskij Vreminak, Xxxu {lg?l ), 142599 idem, fuories and Steatites, Catalogue of Byzantine and Early
Mediaeval Antiguities in the Dumbarton Qaks Collection (Washington 1972), 111, 101 5qq.
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Weitzmann proposes that the epistyle programme from which the pieces came would
have included not only a Deesis with Archangels and the Feast cycle, but also the twelve
Apostles. Such a beam would have been between 4.34 and 4.90 metres in length, about the
same width as the bema opening of Theotokos Pammakaristos, for instance.

The lintel of the east portal of the Baptistery at Pisa may provide another example of
spolia from a templon screen (Pls IV ,B).* This lintel sculpture now is over four metres in
length. The original size of the piece cannot be determined as its terminations have been
recarved with palm trees. The surface of the beam also may have been reworked, as the
wings of the Archangels are more schematised than the flesh or draperies of the figures.*
The full modelling of the drapery and the three-dimensional asceticism of the figures
support the twelfth-century dating of the sculpture. Certainly the detailed treatment of
the figures contrasts with the generalised handling of the Fetiye Camii busts. Haloes and
small rectangles between cach image at the upper border have lost their original inlay.
The squares presumably framed the figures’ identifying inscriptions. The oak leaf border
below was carved separately to fit its present position. Conversely, the incongruity of the
style of the Deesis piece within the richly ornamented ltalian portal clearly betrays its
Byzantine sources. While the style of the lintel carving makes a Byzantine provenance for
the piece possible, its programme—particularly the alternating Archangels and Evangel-
ists on cither side of the Deesis—has no known parallel in the East, as Weitzmann has
pointed out. The sculpture may, however, have been inspired by Byzantine booty or
wrought by a Byzantine artist. Certainly the Pisans had a share in the spoils of 1204.
Unfortunately, nothing is known of the Greek monastery of the Saviour tén Apologothe-
ton, which was given to the Pisans by the legate Peter of Capua after the fall of
Constantinople.’

What little evidence remains seems to indicate that the Constantinopolitan templon
during the Middle Byzantine period consisted of a colonnade closed at the bottom by
ornamental parapet slabs and supporting an epistyle decorated with a figural program-
me, which often included a central Deesis. Evidently, while the quality of the sculpture
may have changed, the same programmatic and formal arrangement also typified the
sanctuary closure of the early fourteenth century, after the termination of the Latin
occupation.

TempLON EVIDENCE FROM THE PROVINCES

The sketchy picture of the Middle Byzantine templon screen derived from Constantino-
politan evidence can be partially filled in through reference to the richer remains of the
Byzantine provinces. However, it cannot be presumed, as it sometimes is, that all features
found outside the capital necessarily mirror missing elements in Constantinople itself.
Included here is a brief discussion of the remains of a few of the more complete or more

* This picce was brought to my attention by T. G. Peterson. S. Bettini, 'Un libro su San Marco', Arte Veneta, xv (1961,
263-77, esp. 274; Venezia e bizanaio, Catalogo, ed. I. Furlan (Venice 1974), no. 32a. For the most recent discussion of the picee,
especially its iconography, K. Weitzmann, *The Painting of Latin Icons in the East and the maniera graeca in the West'
(un‘fublishcd paper, Fifth Annual Byzantine Studics Gonference, Dumbarton Oaks, 28 October 1679).

For the recarving of Byzantine marble by Italians, see, O. Demus, The Church of San Marco, Architecture and Scutprure
{Washington 1960}, 120 sqq.
¥ Janin, Eglises, 46.
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significant templa and epistyle fragments, as well as several of the more problematic
exemplars.® While this enumeration is far from exhaustive, it is representative. The
relevance of this material to the Constantinopolitan chancel barrier is treated in the final
section of the paper.

] =, 1.
\ A o
\

Fic. 2. Skripou, church of the Koimesis, reconstruction of the templon (after A. A. 5. Megaw)

One of the earliest surviving Middle Byzantine templa, that of the church of the
Koimesis at Skripou in Greece dating from 873/4, has been reconstructed in an exemplary
publication by A. H.S. Megaw.” The bema closure is made up of a colonnade with four
octagonal supports carrying an elaborately carved architrave. The placement of the piers,
two flanking the central entrance, two others close to the sides of the sanctuary, is similar
to the reconstructed screen of the Pantocrator in Constantinople (Figs 1 and 2). Birds,
animals and crosses as well as vegetal elements make up the ornamental repertory of the

* For a bibliography of published screens and screen fragments, Chatzidakis, ‘Tkonostas’, cols 326 sqq. Where possible,
I have avoided including screens that I have not scen. The fragments on Athos have, in consequence, not been included
here: sec, L. Brehier, ‘Ancicnnes clétures des choeur antérieures aux iconostases dans les monastéres de I'Athos’, At del ¥
comgress internazionale di studi bizantini (Rome 1940), 1, 48-56. I have also excluded Italian examples of Byzantine or
byzantinising sanctuary closures. Although they arc often quoted in surveys, they are distinct [rom cheir castern
counterparts. The screen at Torcello is one of the most monumental and best preserved eleventh-century closures still
extant, [ts architrave carries thirteenth-century panel paintings of the Virgin and saints in a way which might be cited as a
parallel for the reconstructed Pantocrator screen, Nevertheless, in plan ic resembles nothing known in the Empire. For a
discussion of the parapet slabs, sce H. Buchwald, ‘The Carved Stone Ornament of the High Middie Ages in San Marcg.
Venice', Jahrbuch der dsterreichischen byzantinischen Gcseh"schaE{i, xi-xit (1962-3), 169-209, esp. 202 sqq. [. Andreescu is
resently working on this matenal, ‘Altinum-Torcello: the Earlicst Dgllc ofthe Cathedral of Santa M;\rlta, an Art_Hlsmrlca[
urvey’, Abstracts of the Sixth Annual Byzantine Studies Conference (Oberlin, Ohio 1980}, 13. Equally, the ‘iconostasis’ of wood
and marble at Santa Maria in Valle l;orclanc[a is (cmlpting to use as an example of a Byzantine screen. [tsarchitrave hasa
tower register of intertwined medallions and a central register of fiftcen narrow arches on either side of three much larger
oncs, suitable for a Deesis and saints. However, the date of this closure is not clearly established as Middie Byzantine,
although Bertaux suggested a twelfth-century date for historical reasons, E. Bertaux, L'art dans I’ltalic Meridionale {Paris
1G04}, 11, 554 5qq. Most basically, itis suspect to ascribe to any church ol the Latin rite a screen identical in form to that used
contemporaneously in an Orthodox monument. See below, p. 25 and fo. 106. _
% A. H. 5. Mcgaw, ‘The Skripou Screen’, Annual of the British School at Athens, Lx1 {1966}, 1—q2.
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marble screen. Only the central intercolumniation of the colonnade is open, the other four
are closed at the bottom by parapet slabs which are decorated with a central cross. The
pastophories, apsed side chambers flanking the sanctuary, have similar but smaller
closures.

The remarkable screen of the tenth-century church at Sebastia (Selciklar Kdy) in
Phrygia is also well published.® This sanctuary closure is a colonnade with three
intercolumniations. The central one is open; the two side spaces are partially closed at the
bottom by paired marble slabs, decorated with birds, animals and geometric motives, set
between low uprights. Each of the surviving balusters is decorated with a medallion of a
martyr as well as non-figural ornament. Most impressive, however, is the epistyle of the
screen. In knotted medallions are busts of St Eutychios and thirteen Apostles and
Evangelists flanking the central depictions of the Deesis with archangels. All the figural
decoration was originally coloured by mastic inlay. On the upper border of the piece is an
inscription referring to the donor, the bishop Eustrathios.

The church of the Holy Apostles in the Agora at Athens, which has been dated to the
late tenth or early eleventh century, has been restored with a simple screen of three bays
made up of fragments found in the vicinity.*’ The closure slabs, epistyle and colonnettes
are decorated with non-figural ornament. In contrast to most sanctuary barriers which
are set between the picrs of an extended bema, this screen is placed between the east
columns of a centralised, tetraconch church. Even with the change in plan, the traditional
templon was retained, despite its unsatisfactory juxtaposition with the marble columns of
the interior (Pl I11A).

The two churches in the monastic complex at Hosios Loukas in Phocis both retain
considerable fragments of their templa. The smaller north church, now dedicated to the
Panagia, dates to the tenth century.” Its sculptural programme has been regarded as
homogeneous and contemporary with the original construction of the building; in fact, the
proskynetaria frames may be twelfth-century additions.” Its central screen consists of an
epistyle supported by four colonnettes. Lower parts of the screen, including the parapet
slabs, are reconstructed. The pastophory epistyles are similar in form, though narrower.
Their original closure slabs have also been lost. Post-medieval icons in wooden [rames
have been placed above each of the templa and wired precariously within the
intercolumniations of the main screen. Surviving on the pier between the sanctuary and
diaconicon is the arch-in-rectangle frame of a monumental proskynesis image. A fragment
of the complementary frame from the north pier has also been found.* Originally these
elements, like the later proskynetaria frame in the Kariye Cami in Constantinople, were
supported on paired colonnettes. The sculpture of the templa, like the capitals of the
church, retains vestiges of its original polychrome decoration (Pl I1I8). Of equally high
quality, though of a more plastic sculptural style, are the screens of the early

¥ N. Firatli, ‘Découverte d'une églisc byzantine a Sébaste de Phrygie’, CA, xix {1969), 151-66, esp. 161 sqq.

' A. Frantz, The Athenian Agora, wol. xx, The Church of the Holy Apostles (Princeton, N. J. 1971}, 14 5qq.

* M. Chartzidakis, ‘A propos de la date et du fondateur de Saint-Luc’, CA, xix (196g), 127-50; E. G. Stikas, 7o
Otkodomikon Chronikon & Monés Louka Phikides { Athens 1970), 1 sqq.

8 Grabar, Sculptures, w, 50 sqq.; L. Bouras, The Sculpture of Hosios Loukas, in press, for a reassessment of the chronology of
the sculpture.

* G. Tsimas and P. Papahadzidakis, Athens, Horios Loukas, 1v, nos 9g and 42,
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eleventh-century Katholikon of the monastery.” The forms of the screens are similar to
those of the Panagia. The epistyle is, however, decorated with griffins as well as
ornamental designs. Above the epistyle is a secondary lintel with five corbels simply
decorated with interlace. It is possible that icons were supported above this piece and
lamps suspended from its corbels.*®

Fic. 3. Ohrid, St Sophia, reconstruction of the templon screen (drawing: Epstein)

The present form of the church of St Sophia in Ohrid is generally ascribed to the mid
eleventh century.” Fragments of its screen were incorporated into the pavement and
exterior walls of the building when it was converted into a mosque. These slab pieces as
well as members now stored in the prothesis apse allow a tentative reconstruction of the
closure (Fig. 3). It consisted of four colonnettes supporting an cpistyle and three
intercolumniations, two of which were closed by parapet slabs decorated with eagles, one
attacking a snake, the other a rabbit. Evidence for a similar templon is found on the
entrance step to the diaconicon. On the west faces of the two east picrs are fragments of the
proskynetaria images: to the left, the Virgin of Tenderness, to the right the enthroned

¥ Sec ahove, fn. 52. Grabar, Seulptures, 1, 50 5qq. ) ) )

% A drawing made by V. G. Barskij in 1745 shows a row of icons under small arches above the epistyle. There is,
however, no way of establishing the date of thosc images, nor the date of the intercolumnar images which ace alsa shown in
the scheme. Stranstvovanije Basilja Grigorvica Barskago, ed. N. P. Barsukov (St Petersburg 1887), v, p!alc following p. 147.

# R, Krauthcimer, Early Christian and Byzantine Architecture (Baltimore 1975), 528 sqq. Alsa seercview by H. Hallensleben
in Byzantinische Zeitschrifl, Lxv1 (1973), 125
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Mother of God.” From the fresco ground, it is clear that these images had arched frames,
one of which has been incorporated into the south wall of the church.”

Like St Sophia in Ohrid, the Katholikon of Daphni near Athens retains nothing in situ of
its original late eleventh-century marble templon. On the basis of sculptural fragments
and emplacement marks on the bema step and piers, however, Orlandos reconstructed a
screen which in basic form is similar to those in Hosios Loukas: a central closure with four
colonnettes and two parapet slabs flanking an entrance; two side screens; and on the west
face of the east piers, marble proskynetaria frames.” What does remain of this scheme are
the upper fragments of the two proskynetaria images, Christ on the right and the forehead
and veil of the figure on the left.”

The simple screen in the monastic church of the Eleousa at Veljusa is of interest because
its date, 1080, and patron, Bishop Manuel of Stroumitsa, are known from the monastery’s
typikon.” The screen of the main apse has been reconstructed by Miljkovi¢-Pepik with
three intercolumniations, the side two filled at the bottom by marble slabs. The epistyle is
carved with twenty-two arches, each filled with a debased acanthus leafdesign. Above the
entrance is carved a Maltese cross in a medallion.

In the church of the Panagia tés Gonias on Santorint is one of the most beautiful screens
surviving from the Middle Byzantine period {Pl. Va). The church is dated by a lost
inscription to the reign of Alexius I Comnenos (1081—1118). The screen probably dates
from the same time. The closures of the main and side apses have been preserved in their
entirety, including an epistyle, four uprights and paired parapet slabs in the central bay.
All the pieces are ornamented with geometric patterns realised in champlevé technique. It
retains with splendid effect its dark blue and red mastic inlay. At present, the epistyle is
surmounted by an eighteenth-century (?) wooden structure enframing icons. On the top
of this piece are corbels from which lamps are suspended.

The closure of the sanctuary apse has been reconstructed in the church of St
Panteleimon at Nerezi in Yugoslavia, which is dated to 1164.% This screen is made up of
four octagonal colonnettes supporting an epistyle decorated with running acanthus. The
lower parts of the four intercolumniations flanking the central opening are closed by
parapet slabs. The slabs are decorated with birds, animals and abstract floral motifs in
interlaced rectangles. On the eastern piers on either side of the templon are proskynetaria
representing a standing Virgin carrying the Christ Child and St Panteleimon. They are
enframed with lavishly sculptured trefoil arches supported on coupled columns. One of

P, Miljkovie-Pepek, ‘La lresque de la Vierge avee le Christ du pilier situé au nord de Uiconostase de Sainte Sephie A
Ochrid’, Akten des XI. Internationalen Byzantinistenkongresses, Munich, 1958 (Munich 1960}, 388-9:1.

* Photographs of this piece and other fragments from the templan are found in 1. Nikolajevic-Stojkovié, *Contribution i
I’étude de la sculpture byzantine de la Macedoine et de [a Serbie’, Ziornik Radova, Srpska Akad. Nauka, Visantolokt fnstitut, v
(1956), figs 9 59q. o _ )

A. K. Orlandos, ‘Nedtera curemata eis tea Monen Daphniou’, Archeion ton Byzaniinan Mnémeion (&5 Hellados, v
(19.?5“5),_5'.?-99- . ) ) i

9 E. Diez and O. Demus, Byzantine Mesatcs in Greece, Hosios Lucas and Daphni {Cambridge, Mass. tag1), fig. 65,

© P. Miljkovi¢-Pepik, ‘The Altar Screen from the Monastery of the Mother of God Eleousa in Veljusa', Zterntk Radova
Visantoloski Institut, vi (1960}, 137~44. For the typikon, sce L. Pett, Le monastére de N. D). de Pitie, extract from the Bulletin de
{'Institut Archéologique Russe & Constantinople (Sophia 1goo), 1-153, esp. 69 sqq.

¢ This screen was brought to my attention by L. Bouras, who also (acilitated my visit to the monument: A. K Orlandos,
*H Piskopt tés Santorénés’, Archeion tin Byzantingn Mnémeidn (65 Hellados, viv {1951, 178-224, esp. 190 sqq.

“ N. Okuncy, “lconostase du Xlle siecle a Nérez', Seminartum Kondakovianum, i {1g25), 5-21, pls  and 111
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these [rames survives. Polychrome marble is simulated in fresco below the sills of the
proskynetaria.

Another twelfth-century screen exists in a fragmentary form in the church at Samari
near Messenia.® This templon was made up of two uprights (now missing) supporting an
epistyle elaborately carved with griffins at the end, an arch in the centre with flanking
ornamental bosses and isolated acanthus leaves. The west [aces of the piers of the apse also
retain sculptured marble frames for proskynetaria.

In addition to those screens of the ninth to twelfth centuries which can be reconstructed
within their monumental context, there are numerous fragments of closures which are
worth mentioning because of their figural decoration.” In the museum of Thebes there isa
ninth-century epistyle fragment decorated with busts of Christ and the Virgin, possibly
part of a Deesis, as well as three busts of Apostles, all carved in contiguous medallions.”
Christ flanked by the Virgin and John the Baptist in medallions, with seraphim in the
spandrels, ornament a ninth-or tenth-century epistyle fragment in Afyon Karahisar. The
piece also carries a partial inscription, reading: ‘. . . mayst thou intercede with my Lord for
the monk . . . Another [ragment in the museum at Smyrna has again the Deesis as its
central ornament, in this instance inlaid with coloured mastic to make it more prominent.
Unfortunately no convincing date has been given to this piece.”” Even more interesting
than these marble fragments are the wooden epistyle beams at St Katherine’s on Mount
Sinai.” In that collection there are six beams dated between the eleventh and thirteenth

€ G. Millet, Catalogue des negatifs de la collection chrétienne et byzantine fondée par G. Millet, nouv. édn (Paris 1955), 1173;
Grabar, Scudptures, n, 99 sqq. It is possible that the fleshy acanthus leaves extending [tom the epistyle functioned as corbels
to support hanging Iam[]:s.

“ Some fragments of epistyles contain busts of saines or scenes only, but may have originally included a central Deesis,
Forinstance, there is in the Museum ofChios, a fragment crudely incised with the busts ofsaints in medallions, including St
Isidore, Byzantine Art, a European Art, Catalogue of an exhibition in Atkens {Athens 1964}, no. 26. SS Philip, Makarios, Luke and
Panteleimon are similarly represented in a piece in the Muscum at Afyon Karahisar, Like the previous example, it probably
dates from the tenth century. W. M. Calder, W, K. C. Guihrie, and W. H. Buckler, Monumenta Asiae Minoris Antigua
(Publications of the American Society for Archacological Research in Asia Minor} «v, Monuments and Documents from Eastern Asia and
Western Galatia (Manchester 1933), 13, no. 4o, pl. 17. There is in the Hermitage in Leningrad the fragment ol an epistyle
perhaps from Athos decorated with painted half-figures of the Apostle Philip, St Theodore Scratelates and St Demetrius
under carved arches. Lazarev, ‘Trois fragments’, 117 sqq. Three full-length figures of the Apostles James, Philip and Luke
in the Byzantine Muscum in Athens are ascribed to an eleveath-century templon screen. Even without a central Deesis, a
screen containing all twelve Apostles would have to be at least 3.76 m. in length. G. Soteriou, Odegos Byzantinou Mouseion
(Athens 1924), cik. to. In the Vatopedi Monastery on Mount Athos and dating from the end of the twelfth or beginning of
the thirteenth century are parts of an epistyle beam decorated with representations of scenes from the life of Christ 2nd from
the life of the Virgin, all under arches. M. Chawzidakis, ‘Eikones epistyliou apo to Agion Oros', Deltion 185 christianikés
archaiologikés Hetairias, 1v, pt ¢ (1965), 377 sqq. Grabar proposed that the marble, inlaid icon of St Eudocia found in
Constantine Lips's church oniginally came from its epistyle decoration, Sculptures, 1, 110 sqq. This suggestion has been
rightly rejected by Mango and Hawkins, ‘Additional Notes on the Monastery of Ligs‘,‘3u‘5 5qq. Two later serics of panel
paintings are perhaps worth noting here. The scenes of the Washing of the Feetand Christ in Gethsemane of the thirteenth
century are enclosed in slightly pointed arches within a square frame. Old photographs in the Stylianou collection show this
picce along with others as part of the epistyle decaration of the monastery ol’Stj)uhn Lampadiste in Cyprus; Byzantines
Eikones tés Kyprou (Mouseio Mpenake, Athens, 1 September — 30 November 1976). A complete cpistyle, 3.53 m. in length,
including twenty-three scencs and two Prophels and dating from the lourteenth or fifteenth century, is now in the narthex of
the manastery of St John Lampadiste; its original provenance is unknown: Byzantines Eikones tés Kyprou, no. 3t.

& A. Orlandos, ‘Glypta tou Mousciou Thebon', Archeion tin Byzantingn Mnémeidn tes Hellados, v (1939-40), 126 sqq.

# W H. Buckler and W. M. Calder, Monumenta Asiae Minoris Antiqua { Publications of the American Society for Archaeolvgical
Research in Asia Minor), vi, Monuments and Documents from Phrygia and Caria (Manchester 1936), 122, no. 356, pl. 62.

© A. QOrlandos, ‘Christianika glypta tou Mousciou Smyrnes’, Archeion (in Byzantinin Mnémeidn tés Hetlados, wi{1937),
128-52, esp. 142

N (53 em[:i \‘}[ Sotiriou, fkenes tés Monés Sina (Athens 1958), 102 sqq.; also see K. Weitzmann, ‘A Group of Early
Twelfth-Century Sinai Icons Auributed to Cyprus', Studies in Memory of David Talbot Rice, eds G. Robertson and G.
Henderson (Edinburgh 1975), 47-63-
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century, all of which are decorated with a central Deesis. In three of the epistyles the
Deesis is flanked by scenes from the life of Christ. In two others the Deesis is
complemented by images from the life of the Virgin and the miracles of St Eustratios,
respectively, instead of the normal feast cycle. Each subjectis enframed by a painted arch.
The original location of these beams is not known.

o] 1m. M.

Fic. 4. Cappadocia, Goreme, Chapel 25, section to the cast (drawing: Epsten)

The examples of templa so far mentioned come from churches with some architectural
pretension. Screens of more rustic monuments are also still extant. Most of these closures
are constructed of base materials. Nevertheless, because they retain evidence of the
templon’s programme, because they reflect on the process by which metropolitan types
were adapted to provincial needs and because, finally, they have occasionally been
misunderstood by scholars, a few are included in this survey.

The area richest in non-marble templon screens 1s Cappadocia. The nature of the tufl
rock from which the cave chapels of Cappadocia were hewn dictates that these barriers be
wall-like in their solidity and proportions. For the same reason, these barriers are pierced
by round-headed apertures rather than by rectangular ones. Even so, these barriers mime
the templa of built churches. Where space permits, a central entrance is flanked by two
side openings, as in a normal screen. There are even several examples of screens with
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carved pseudoparapet slabs, like that of Chapel 25 in Géreme Valley (Fig. 4)."" The
citation of these rock-cut closures as examples of the opaque barrier in the Orthodox
church, precursors or current reflectors of the marble screen with permanent intercolum-
nar icons, is incorrect.” Indeed, a number of important chapels in Cappadocia and South
Italy have only low barriers, with no evidence of ever being closed more fully. St

Fic. 5. Cappadocia, Géreme, St Eustathios, section to the east (drawing: Epstein)

Eustathios in Géreme Valley and the crypt of San Salvatore, Giurdignano, provide two
examples (Figs 5 and 6).” The relatively well-preserved fresco decoration of these cave
chapels indicates that the programming of the templon screen area was also modelled on
that of the normal built church. The rock-cut epistyle of the early eleventh-century church
of Kiliclar Kiisliik in Goreme is ornamented with a central Deesis.” More often the Deesis
seems to have been transferred to the conch of the apse, as in the mid eleventh-century

" Qther well-preserved examples of rock-cut screcns are found in Geyik Kilisc in Soganlf Dere and Chapel 17 in Géreme
Valley. G.de Jerphanion, Une nouvelle province de ’art byzantin, les églises rupestres de Cappadoce, n, pri(Paris 1936), 369599 1, pt
2 (Paris 1932), 479; plate vol. 1, 25, 2. L -

7 Brehier, 'Anciennes clotures . .. Athos’, 53 sqq.; Walter, ‘Origin of the Iconostasis’, 258.

1 Jerphanion, Une nouvelie province, 1,147 5qq. A. Mcdea, Gli Affreschn delle cripte eremitische Pugliesi (Rome 1939), 120 5qq.

M. Restle, Dic byzantinische Wandmalerei in Kleinasien (Recklinghausen 1967), n, pl. 279.
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column churches of Géreme.” In Kiliglar Kilise, a church dated to the early tenth century
on the basis of painting style, proskynetaria representing the Virgin and Christ flank the
entrance to the sanctuary.™

Another cave church of some significance is found not far from Paphos in Cyprus — the
Encleistra of St Neophytos. This chapel, which is partially carved out of rock and enclosed
by a curtain wall, went through a number of extensions and transformations which are
documented by distinct painting phases and by Neophytos’s typikon.”” Before the
cleaning of the monument by the Department of Antiquities in Cyprus and Dumbarton
Oaks, the bema and naos were divided by a wooden-framed screen with a central opening,
reused painted stone slabs, and icons (Pl. VB). A terminus ante quem for this arrangement is
provided by the border of the 1503 Pantocrator in the bema which overlaps the upper
extremity of the templon’s decoration. The introduction of this screen, however, damaged
the image of St Nicholas in the bema, part of the 1183 painting phase. It may also have
eliminated part of the same phase of decoration on the west side of the wall — the
remaining Christ might have been originally flanked by the Virgin and the Baptist.™ 1
hypothesise the following sequence: when the nave was extended in 1196, the entrance to
the bema was also enlarged. Initially this new opening was closed only by parapet slabs
and flanked by processional icons {Figs 7 and 8). That the paired images of the Virgin and
Christ, which have been ascribed to the early thirteenth century, were meant to serve as
processional icons is evidenced by their fittings.™ At the time of the 1503 restoration, but
before the repainting of parts of the nave and sanctuary, the present structure was builg,
incorporating the earlier icons and, now damaged, parapet slabs. This would account for
the similarity of the crude carved decoration of the screen with that in the renewed narthex
of the monument.®

The cave chapel of St Sophia on Kythera may provide a comparison for the proposed
reconstruction of Neophytos’s original, sanctuary closure of 1183. Here a simple masonry
wall separates the nave [rom the sanctuary, broken only by a rectangular entrance. The
spatial limitations of the small, low cave and, no doubt, the economic limitations of the
monastery, did not allow a more claborate barrier. On the left are represented SS Sophia,

" In the eleventh century the Deesis is sometimes found in combination with the theme that enjoyed the greatest
popularity in Cappadocia in the tenth century, the liturgical Maiestas, for instance in Esk1 Giimiiy and the church of Ayvalt
kdy. For the most recent cvaluation of the frescoes of these churches, see N. Thicrry, ‘Une style schématique de Cappadoce
daté du Xle sitcle d'aprés une inscription’, fourral des Savants(1968), 45 sqq. The Deesis in its normal form is very common
in the cleventh century. In addition to the Column Churches, the Triconch of Tagar and Dirckli Kilise are among the most
important examples. Jerphanion, Une nouvelle province, u, 187 sqq.; 1, pt 2, 393 sqq.; N. and M. Thicrry, Nouvelles éolises
rupestres de Cappadoce, region du Hasan Dagi (Paris 1964), 183 sqq. 1n South ltalian rock-cut churches the figural group most
commonly found in the principal apsc of the church is also the Deesis. It occurs, for instance, in 5. Lorenzo in Fasano, 5.
Antonio Abate, 8. Leonardo, S. Marina and S. Simcon a Famosa in Massafra, 5. Margherita, 5. Nicola and S. Angelo in
Mottola, and S. Giovanni in S. Vito dei Normanni; Medea, Glf A ffreschi, figs 26, 155, 157, and 48,

' Jerphanion, Une nouvelle province, plate vol. 1, 44, 2.

T C. Mangoand E. ]. W. Hawkins, ‘The Hermitage of St Neophytos and its Wall Paintings’, DOP, xx (1966), 119-206,
esp 122 sqq.; Kypriaka Typika, Pegai kai meletai tes Kyprikes istorias, ed. 1. P. Tsiknopoullos {Nicosia 1469), 11, 69 sqq.

 Mango and Hawkins regard the naos painting as homogencous and date it to the carly thirteenth century. A close
stylistic analysis of the paintings, however, seems to me 1o suggest that the image of St Su:rhcn the Younger immediately to
the left of the screen and the enthroned Christ on the right are the remains of the limited decoration of the naos undertaken
in the 1183 phase of painting found largely in the bema and cell. This implies that the nave was not newly excavated in 1166,
but simply enlarged, especially in clevation, in order o open above to Neophytos's new quarrers.

" Mango and Hawkins, “The Hermitage of 5¢ Neophytos', 161. .

 This similarity is commented on by Mango and Hawkins, op. cit,, 160, though they come ta a diiferent conclusion
concerning its date,
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Fig. 7. Paphos, St Neophytos, hypothetical reconstruction of the first phase of the sanctuary
screen {drawing: Epstein)

Agape, Elpis and Pistis; on the right, the small standing figure of a local saint, St Theodore
of Kythera beside a more monumental Deesis, the Virgin and Baptist flanking an
enthroned Christ. These paintings probably date to the thirteenth century, although theyv
have also been ascribed to the late eleventh or early twelfth century

Some built chapels are hardly more impressive than the rock-cut churches of
Cappadocia, Cyprus and Kythera. In Geraki in Greece, for instance, two churches, the
Evangelistria and the church of St George, evidence a makeshift adaptation of a normal
Byzantine scheme to the straightened circumstances of a small provincial building. The
screen of the first is a crude masonry affair, not unlike thatof the eleventh-century rock-cut
chapel, Carlkli Kilise, in Cappadocia, or the fourteenth-century churches of Karan in
Serbia or St John in Mistra.” Similarly, the permanent icons on masonry infilling
introduced into the screen of the church of St George, like those of the Serbian church of

® A. Xyngopoulos, ‘Fresques de style monastique en Grece’, Pepragmena tou g Diethnous Byzantinoloikou Synedriou,
Thessalonike, 1953 (Athens 1955}, 5106,

% Charzidakis, ‘L’évelution de l'icone’, 168; H. Counouplotou-Manolesson, *Geraki, Suntérisis toichographion’,
Archaiologika Analekia Athenn, v, pt2 (1971}, 154—61. For comFarison; Cartklt Kilise, reconstructed section, A. V\% Epstein,
‘Rock-cut Chapels in Géreme Valley, Cappadocia: the YTlanli Group and the Column Churches’, CA, xxtv (1975}, fig. 8;
chapel of St John, S. Dufrenne, Les programmes fconographiques des églises byzantines de Mistra (Paris 1970}, fig. 17, Karan,
Grabar, ‘Deux notes’, 19 sqq.
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Fic. 8. Paphos, St Neophytos, hypothetical reconstruction of the second phase of the sanctuary
screen (drawing: Epstein)

Staro-Nagoricino, appear to be transplanted monumental proskynetaria rather than
pseudo-panel paintings as has been suggested.”

Evidence provided by provincial literature must be treated with the same care as the
evidence drawn from provincial monumerits. Rustic saints’ lives must be treated with
great caution. Typika and inventories are more credible sources. Two such documents are
particularly interesting. The typikon for Backovo in Bulgaria was written in ro81. Like
the Pantocrator typikon it provides an indication of the fittings of the church *

8 G, Boskovic, ‘Staro-Nagoritino et Gratanica, deux églises de Miludin’, L'art Byzantine chey lez Stavs, Orient et Byzance, v,
ed. G. Millet {Paris 1930), 195 sqq.; idem, ‘Kurze Reisenotizen', Starinar, vi (1931}, 140-8g, esp. 173 59q.; Grabar, ‘Deux
notes’, 17 5qq.

bl I;]ct?t(,] Typikon de Grégoire Pacourianos pour le Monastéze de Pétritzos (Backova) en Bulgarie (Vizantiiskit Vremennik, suppl. 1,

x1,1904), 28, lines 19 5qq.
"Operhdpevoy fpiv Eone wal’ Exdomy fpégav te xoi vixta dxoyrovg dawmgely Eutpoodey tijg eixdvog Tig
unegayiag deotoxov xavomhas teeic, xai v 1h peydho fipat xavinhav piav, zai Eungoaiev tod &Tl.ou Latog iy
101G #aykEAoLg ETEOOEY PEV THiG 0WINEIOU OTAVQMIEWS xavdihav piav, xal ﬁmgoqﬁw o n}i (‘.mg; Elndvog Tob
rpodeduov xai fartiatod xavdihay piav, xai Eungoodev Tig elxdvog 1o dylov Mewgyiov xavinhay piav, xai Exi wo
Tadw NPV KavONAaG TRELG.
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We are obliged to set out lights burning day and night in the following way: three lamps before the
image of the Holy Mother of God, one lamp in the great bema, one lamp before the holy bema on
the chancel [screen] in front of the Crucifixion, one lamp before the image of St Michael {?], and
three lamps at our tomb.

The meaning of this passage is ambiguous. [t can quite reasonably be interpreted to mean
that that lamp which is suspended from the top of the screen in front of the epistyle icon of
the Crucifixion is the one to be kept burning continuously. The others on the closure, it is
implied, are lit only during certain offices and the liturgy. This passage, then, possibly
provides evidence for an epistyle feast cycle like that of the Pantocrator in Constantinople
or those of St Katherine’s on Sinai.®

A similar suggestion of an elaborate epistyle programme is found in a later inventory of
the church of the Theotokos tés Koteinés near Philadelphia in Asia Minor.*

... Five sieves [?]. Two lamps (Aau{r)ai) for the curtain. Another two for the Archangels.
Another three outside the porch. Another on the tomb. A cast metal cross along with a censer in the
sacred dome. Two trays, The weathercock of the church. Large images of proskynesis. Another five
at the templon. At this templon the twelve small images of the Royal Feasts. Embellished icons: two
of Christ and [one of] St George. Ivory carvings: the Koimesis and the Nativity. Another small,
embellished Koimesis. Another, the archistrategos represented in brass,

Again, the meaning of this passage is ambiguous. Nevertheless, the monastery evidently
held two large images of veneration which, judging from their context in the inventory,
might have been set up near the bema, as in St Chrysostomos on Cyprus. There the
impression of cross-beams in the shallow niches flanking the original screen indicate that
portable icons were set up in that position as proskynetaria. In addition, seventeen icons
are associated with the templon screen. This suggests that, like the reconstructed
Pantocrator screen, the five figures of the Deesis (Christ, the Virgin, John the Baptist and
the two Archangels) were set above the epistyle in the midst of somewhat smaller images
of the liturgical feasts. It would in any case be difficult to place an uneven number of
images, like five, in the intercolumniations of the screen.”

The evidence from the Byzantine provinces confirms the basic form of the Middle
Byzantine sanctuary barrier as it is known from Constantinopolitan remains — a
relatively open screen of three or more bays, closed by low parapet slabs and divided by
colonnettes supporting a decorated epistyle. The provincial material also clarifies some
aspects of the templon which are only vaguely alluded to in the Constantinopolitan finds:
the programme of the screen, the form and function of the proskynetaria, and the problem
of the intercolumnal icon.

& [t scems likely that corbels to support hanging lamps of the type still found at Hosios Loukas should be restored an the

lar%‘cr templa. .
This inventory dates from 1247.5. Eustratiados, 'E en Philadelpheia Mont t&s uperagias Theotokou tés Koteinés',

Hellénika, m (1930), 325-139, esp. 332, lines 6 5qq.
Kéoxwva wévie. Adpvar dio 1ot némdov "Etegat §Vo tav dowpdtwv. AlhaLtoeic EEwlev tou ngomiiov. ‘Etépa tv e
1apw. Traupeds U106 pETd Bupuaton ot ev 1@ Belw TeovAlw. "Analiagéal yutai 600, 'AVERORUALGOLOY TG
baxdnaiag. Eixoviopata peyaha tig 1gooxuvvigews. Etega év 1o ik névie. Elg 1o altd tépniov al ff” topral
wxed elxoviopata tov Paohndv tograv. Eixoviopata xexoopunuéva dvo & Xoiotog rai 6 Gywog Tempyiog.
'Eleqaviivoy yAurtov 1) xoipnoig ®xai fy yévwnoig. Etepov punpdv 1) xoupnoig xexoapnuévov "Exepov 6 doyxiotpdmyog
Ex yahrot lotopuopévoy.

¥ Chatzidakis assumes these images were intercolumnar icons; ‘L'évolution de lMicond’, 166, N. Otkonomides noted in a
conversation that any irregular number of icons could hardly be assumed to fill the even number of spaces on either side of
the central opening of a templon screen.
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THE PROGRAMME OF THE MIDDLE BYZANTINE SCREEN

The area in the immediate vicinity of the altar was programmatically significant in the
Byzantine church. The epistyle of the templon, then, must hold a position of relatively
high status in the spatial hierarchy of the church.” It is, in consequence, important to
establish the subject and meaning of the epistyle programme. Where the figural
decoration of a screen survives, it almost always includes a central Deesis. The
widespread popularity of this theme is certainly understandable.® In the liturgy, prayers
are extended repeatedly to Christ through the Virgin and John the Baptist.™ The Deesis
image, with abstract simplicity and formal elegance, combines a statement on the efficacy
of prayer and intercession with the threat of the Last Judgement.” Tt also is a form which is
readily adapted to local needs or a patron’s personal taste through a combination with
secondary figures or scenes. The addition of St Eutychios to the ensemble of Evangelists
and Apostles flanking the Deesis on the epistyle of the church of Sebastia and the
representation of scenes from the life of St Eustratios on either side of the Deesis on one of
the epistyle beams in St Katherine’s on Mount Sinai reflect the versatility of the central
theme of the Deesis.”

If the Deesis image is so significant, why does it not appear on all the surviving
epistyles? It seems probable that many epistyles which are carved only with abstract
ornament may originally have supported figural images executed in another material. A
number of instances of this have been noted: the reconstructed Pantocrator screen, as well
as those of the church of the Saviour described in the Vita Basilii, the church in the palace of
Botaniates, and the church of the Theotokos tés Koteinés. It is also possible that in
instances where the epistyle did not bear the persons of the Deesis, the image appeared
elsewhere in the sanctuary area. This might account for the ubiquitous presence of the
Decesis in the conches of rock-cut chapels in both Cappadocia and South Italy.” The
Deesis appears in monumental form in built churches as well, such as, for instance, St
Sophia in Ohrid, St Sophia in Kiev, St Demctrius at Pec, Hosios Loukas, and the 88
Anargyroi in Kastoria.” In all, there can be little doubt that the Deesis was the principal

% For a general discussion of programming in the centrally planned Byzantine church, see O. Demas, Byzantine Mosaic
Decoration (London 1948).

% For a discussion of the meaning ol the Decsis, see C. Walter, "Two Notes on the Degsis’, Revue des Etudes Byzantines, xxvi
(1968}, 311~36, and ‘Further Notes on the Deésis’, ibid., xxvint {170}, 161-87. )

" See, lor instance, E. Kantorowice, 'Ivories and Litanies’, Journal of the Warburg and Courtawld Institutes, v (1942, 56-81,
esp. 71 sqq-

P"?Tht??dca of witness is also important; Walter, “Two Notes’, 324 5qq.

% See above, pp. 12 and 15 sqq. Ithas been suggested that epistyles adorned with inta%!io busts of Christ, the Virgin and
the Baptist and saints, like those dated to the ninth and teath century found in Asia M inor, precede the more elaborate
cpistyle ﬂrogrammcs invoiving icons; Walter, *Origin of the lcunoslasis‘_, 258 sqq.; Chatzidakis, 'L'évolution de i‘ico_nc'.
16g. In this case the imposition on history of a linear developmeunt from simple and crude to complex and refined has hitle
foundation. The reference in the ninth-century Vite fasilti quoted above (p. 6) and the tenth-century ivary epistyle
programme proposed by Weitzmann (p. g} belie the suppesition that the great Deesis above the screen evolved (rom
simple, decorative medallion busts carved in the epistyle. Much more likely the inlaid cpistyle beams found in the provinees
{p. 15 and [n. 66) are relatively cheap imutations of the more elaborate schemes characteristic of the great churches of the
Empire.

% See above, fn. 75. Problems of ‘migration’ are discussed in A. Xyngopoulos, ‘Les (resques de Veglise des Saints-Apotres
a Thessalonique’, Art ef Socicté @ Byzance sous les Paléologues, Acles du Colloque organisé par UAssoctation Internationale des études
byzantines @ Venise en Seplemire, 1968 (Venice 1971), B3-9, esp. 87; M. E. Frazer, "Church Doors and the Gates of Paradise:
Byzantine Bronze Doors in ltaly’, DOP, xxvu (1973), 1.45-62, esp. 150 5qq.

* R. Hamano-Maclean and H. Hallensleben, Die Monumentalmalerer in Serbien und Makedonien vom 11. bis zum friiken 14.
Jahrhundert (Gicssen 1963}, pl. 1a; H. Logvin, Kiev's Hagia Sophia (Kicv 1g7t), pl. 16. Alsa see fig. (8. The Deesis in the 85
Anargysoi is reproduced m S. Pelekanides, Kastoria, I, Byzantinai toichographiai (‘Thessalonike 1953}, pl.ra.
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image of the figurally decorated templon screen, both in Constantinople and its provinces.

The evidence of proskynetaria in the provinces also substantiates the vague indications
of images of special veneration in Constantinople. These proskynetaria seem to be either
monumental images placed on the piers flanking the templon or portable icons erected to
either side in front of the screen. Examples of such paired icons still exist in Cyprus, one set
from Lagoudera now in the Archbishop’s Palace in Nicosia and the other at St Neophytos.
Both retain their processional fittings.” There is also some manuscript evidence of icons
being set up near the altar. For instance, icons are represented as part of the sanctuary
decoration in Constantinopolitan manuscripts like Sinai codex 339 of the twellth
century.® A great many more examples of monumental proskynetaria may be cited,
including those discussed above.” Both the monumental proskynetaria and the portable
proskynetaria represent important figures in the celestial hierarchy. The Virgin, Christ,
or the patron saint of the foundation continually appear in this context.” Indeed, these are
the essential figures of church decoration. As in the case of the Deesis, when a parochial
church could not, for lack of space, accommodate these images in the normal manner,
spatial compromises were sought. In St Nikolaos Kasnitzes in Kastoria and in St George
in Kurbinovo, proskynetaria are set in painted or real arched niches just before the
templon on the north and south walls of the church.” In Perachorio on Cyprus they were
represented on non-structural walls perhaps built especially for that purpose immediately
belore the sanctuary on either side of the sanctuary apse.'™ In Geraki and in some cave
churches they were removed to the masonry surface of a crude wall-screen. Finally,
then, it can be assumed that the widespread popularity of proskynetaria in the provinces
ultimately reflects Constantinopolitan practice.

A further addition to the sanctuary arrangement found in the provinces has also been
regarded as a reflection of Constantinopolitan practice: the intercolumnar icon. Lazarev
ably summarises the evidence for the intercolumnar icon in an article that first appeared
in 1966, concluding that the sanctuary barrier closed by icons permanently fixed between
the columns of the templon makes its appecarance only in the thirteenth or fourteenth
century.'” The debate, nevertheless, continues. Weitzmann assumes the existence of
intercolumnar icons from the tenth century.'” Chatzidakis has more recently suggested
that intercolumnar icons are a feature of the Byzantine templon from at least the eleventh
century.'” He brings both literary and archaeological sources to bear an the problem. He

* For the Neophytos pair, see above, p. 19 5qq. and fn.79. For the Lagoudera images, also A, Papageorgiou, fkonen aus
Zypern (Genf 1969), 3, 19 and 23. The Lagoudera icons are difficult to study at the present time. The lower border, however,
retains the scars of hittings for carrying. For processional icons in general, see A. Grabar, ‘Sur les sources des peintures
byzantines’, CA, xu (1962), 35180, esp. 366 sqq.

% Grabar, ‘Deux notes’, 20, fig. 7.

9 Also sce G. Babi¢, ‘La décoration en [resques de clétures de choeur’, Zéornik za Likovne Umetnoiti, x1 (1975), 3-47.

* §. der Nersessian, ‘Two Images of the Virgin®, DOP, xiv (1960), 71-86, csp. 8o sqq.

* Pelekanides, Kastorta, pl. 57a; Hamann-Maclean and Hallensleben, Die Monumentalmalerei, pl. 6a-b.

™A H.S. Megaw and E. Hawkins, “The Church of the Holy Apestles at Perachorio, Cyprus’, DOP, xvi {1g62),
277-348, esp. 133, pls 2 and 48.

 Sec above, p. 19 5qq.

9 Lazarev, ‘Trois fragments’, 117 sqq.

" Weitzmann, The Monastery of St Katherine: The Icons, 102. The author writes concerning the icon of St Nicholas (B, 61),
“Whether this icon could already have been part af the iconastasis is impaossible to determine with certaindy, but it seems
possible, for the icon belongs approximately to the period when large-scale icons began to replace curtains in iconostases’.
Compare this with the author’s statement on the subject in his introduction, ibid., g.

1% Chatzidakis, ‘L'évolution de 'icone’, 165 sqq.
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quotes, for instance, the Backovo typikon and the Theotokos tés Skotinés inventory as
evidence of the intercolumnar icon. As shown above, both these references may be related
to epistyle decoration. He also cites Leo of Ostia’s description of the sanctuary barrier
ordered from Constantinople by Desiderius for Montecassino between 1058 and 1086.'”
This screen is described as having five icons suspended from the epistyle.'™ But this
arrangement may be related to Western rather than Eastern practice. After all, Desiderius
also commissioned an altar frontal from Constantinople, a liturgical accoutrement
unknown in the Orthodox East."”

The archaeological evidence for carly intercolumnar icons that Chatzidakis uses is also
unconvincing: the icons of St Neophytos and the Panagia tou Arakou at Lagoudera, the
rustic churches of Geraki and Cappadocia. Thus neither the literary sources nor the
provincial monumental evidence provides proof that intercolumnar icons were common
in the provinces of the Empire, much less its capital, during the eleventh and twelfth
centuries. On the contrary, the templon seems to remain a relatively open division
between the sanctuary and the nave.

Arguments against the early introduction of intercolumnar icons, and the increasing
opacity of the screen which such permanently placed images entail, necessarily remain
negative. But while arguing ex nihilo is always suspect, it is perhaps worth reviewing the
relevant lacunae. In various publications of screens and screen fragments, no reference is
made to dowels, hooks, grooves or any other means of securing icons or, for that matter,
curtains. Even the marble capital from around 1300 which probably comes from the
templon of the Fetiye Camii is carved with Apostolic busts on three sides, implying thatall
three faces were visible.'” Equally, the elaborately enframed monumental proskynetaria
in the Kariye Camii of the early fourteenth century indicate that panel paintings of the
same subject were not planned for the intercolumniations of the templon.' In addition,
the depiction of liturgical arrangements in illuminated manuscripts provides no evidence
for the postulation of an opaque screen in Middle Byzantine Constantinople. Miniatures
in the Homilies of Gregory Nazianzus in the Bibliotheque Nationale, Paris, MS grec. 510,
a Gospel book, MS grec. 74 in the same library, and the Menologion of Basil IT in the
Biblioteca Vaticana, grec. 1613, continue to represent the sanctuary barrier as a low
chancel screen."® Images associated with these screens are limited to the Annunciation on
the low doors at the entrance of the sanctuary and panel paintings that are cither
free-standing or attached to a ciborium."-While it may be true that these miniatures

' Id.

1% For Leo of Ostia’s text, see Chronicon Casinense, wt, cols 711 sqq. (Patrologia Latina, ed. J.-P. Mignc (Paris 1854-64)
cuxxui). The relevant passages are translated by H. Bloch in E. G. Holt, Literary Sources of Art History (Princeton 1947},

~10.
Yo la Pala d'0Oro, ed. Hahnloscer, xii.

1% See above, p.g. .

W P Underwood's consideration is problematic; Kariye Djami, sol. 1 {New York 1966], 168 sqq. ]

e H. Omont, Miniatures des plus anciens manuserits grecs de {a Bibliothrque Nationale du Vie au XiVe siécle {Paris 1929}, pls L1
and LX; Bibliothéique Nationale, Départment des Manuserits, Evangiles avec peintures byzantines du Xle siécle, 1, reproduction des 361
miniatures du manuserit gree 74 (Paris n.d.), pl. 133; 1l Menolagio di Basilin I (Cod, Vaticano Greco r613) (Turin 1907}, pls 61, 324
and 365(Codices e Vaticanis Selccti, viu); for ather examples of low screens, Grabar, ‘Deux notes’, 19 sqq.; Mathews, Early
Churches, figs 95 sqq. ) ; ) )

1 Apart [rom images in manuscripts the only remains of templon doors date from alter the Middle Byzantine period.
Templon doors and their iconography are discussed by Grabar, ‘Deux notes’, 13 5qq.
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follow pre-iconoclastic models, the common occurrence of the low screen in manuscripts
must have meant that this form of sanctuary barrier was sull recognisable in the Middle
Byzantine period and by no means heretical.'? Indeed, it seems likely that the
pre-iconoclastic foundations in Constantinople, like St Sophia, retained their original
open sanctuary barriers.'”

Two final sources, both mystical interpretations of the church, may be quoted as
evidence for the relative openness of the Byzantine templon. At the end of the cleventh
century, Nicholaos of Andida wrote:

The shutting of the doors and the closing of the curtain over them, as they are accustomed to do in
monasterics, and the covering over the gifts with the so-called aér signifies, I believe, the night on
which took place the betrayal of the disciple, the bringing [of Christ] before Cataphas, the
arraignment before Annas, the false testimonies, the mockery, the blows and the rest ... But when
the aér is taken away and the curtain drawn back, and the doors opened, this signifies the dawn on
which they led him away and handed him over to Pontius Pilate, the governor.'

Certainly the templon was closed, but by curtains rather than by permanently attached
intercolumnar icons. In addition the reference to closure is circumscribed. It occurs only
for a short time during the liturgy and, as Mathews has already noted, the practice is
described as specifically monastic.'”

It is possible that opaque sanctuary barriers were only introduced universally into the
Orthodox church in the post-Byzantine period. Certainly the absence of any mention of
either intercolumnar icons or curtains in a detailed, metaphysical description of the
sanctuary by Symeon of Thessalonike (d. 1429) is significant.

The closure manifests the division between the senses and the intelligence, even as a irmament
scparates the spiritual from the material. The columns before the altar, Christ, are those of his
Church, which exhort and support us. Then above the closures is the joining entablature, declaring
the bond of love and unity in Christ of the blessed on earth. Then above the entablaturc is Christ, in
the middle of the holy images, and flanking him, His Mother and the Baptist, angels, apostles and

' Grabar, ‘Deux notes’, 15; Walter, 'Origin of the iconostasis’, 254.

" Comparing an ckphrasis of St Sophia written by Michael of Thessalonike and read in the Great Church two days
before Christmas in the late 11405 or 11505, with that written by Paul the Silentiary for the same day in 563, suggests that the
sanctuary closure had not changed radically between the sixth and twellth centuries; C. Mango and J. Parker, ‘A
Twelfth-Century Description ol St Sophia’, DOP, xiv (1g960), 233-45; P Friedlinder, Johannes von Gaza and Paulus
Silentiarius, Kunstbeschreibungen justinianischer Zei! {Leipzig/Berlin 1923). In the twellth century as in the Justinianic age, the
barrier seems to have been relatively open, its most notable feature being the silver columns which dehined the bema
enclosure. Mango and Parker, ‘A Twellth-Century Description’, 239, para. 6, lines 186 sqq.; Friedlander, Kunstbes-
chrabungen, 246, hnes 682 sqq. Also see, 5. G. Xydis, "I'he Chancel Barrier, Solea and Ambo of Hagia Sophia’, Art Builetin,
xxix (1947}, 1—24. Neither the sixth-century nor the twelfth-century writer mentions curtains, panels or anything clse
obscuring the sanctuary.

" Nicholaus Andidorum, Protheoria, col. 445 (Patrologia Graeca, d. | .-I', Migne, cxu). This work s dated to bewween 1ogs
and.1063 by R. Bornert, Les Commentaires byzantins de la divine liturgte du VIe au XVe siecle (Paris 1966), 181 sqq. [t has been
more recently ascribed to the end of the century by |. Darrouzes, ‘Nicholas d'Andida ct les Azymes', Revue des Etudes
Byzantines, xxx11 (1974}, 199-210. The translation is from Mathews, Early Churcher, 171. The Greek text reads
“H 8¢ tv Bupdy xhelolg, xal 1) Exdvw 10UTwv EEARAWOLS TOU RATANETAOUATOS, 1C £V 101G povagmpiors si@baot, xai
1] ToU Aeyopevou dépog tv Belwv dwpwv émxdlul,‘n.g, g olpat, ty vixta trelvny dnhoi, xad' fv 1 1ot palnrod
rpodoaia eoéfn, xai ) npdg Kalagav draywyh, xal iy 1p0¢ Avvay ntaghoraots, xat al Yevdopaptuoiat, v unv
xai ol fualypot, ®at ot xoAa@Lapat, xai 1ahha doa 1o myvixaita ovpPéfnxe’ .. . Aigoupévou 8¢ 100 dEpog xai 1o
XATAMETAOUATOg ouaTerhopévor, TaV Bupdv e avoryoptvav, 1 xowia datvrottac, xad' &v anfyayov abtov wat
napédwxay Hovrip IAata @ fyepdve

1% Mathews, Early Churches, 171.
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others of the saints. Thus Christ is in heaven with his saints, is with us now, and will come for
judgement. And the closure makes the bema eminently represent the remembrance of Christ. So
the tomb is the altar, as the bema is manilestly the remembrance [of the arca?] around the tomb.
Thus, the ambo stands before the door of the tomb, evincing the stone rolled from the door of the
tomb ... "

Not only does Symeon not mention intercolumnar icons, but specifically mentions the
images of the Great Deesis above the epistyle.

The archaeological, pictorial and documentary evidence, or lack of evidence,
associated with Constantinople indicates that in the capital of the Empire, through the
Middle Byzantine period and into the fourteenth century, the templon screen remains
relatively open, the emphasis of its figural programme still on the epistyle, not on the
columnar area of the screen. It is also clear that outside the capital, in the provinces of the
Empire, Constantinopolitan practices were normally followed. Only within the peculiar
circumstances of unpretentious, non-metropolitan buildings were permanent visual
barriers introduced. These provincial examples cannot be seen as isolated reflectors of
Middle Byzantine Constantinopolitan practice, nor should they be regarded as the
original source for the later Orthodox iconostasis. They were local adaptations of common
liturgical arrangements to the restricted space of provincial buildings. To locate the
sources of the iconostasis, the opaque sanctuary closure, and to identify the tme at which
it became the koine of the Orthodox church, it may be necessary to consider the juncture
in the fourteenth century of Hesychast mysticism and the wood-building genius of the
Russian north.
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A. Santorini, Panagia 1&s Gonias, templon screen
Ploto L. Bouras
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Photo Dumbarton Qaks
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